

*National Imaging Associates, Inc. *	
Clinical guidelines SINUS, FACE, ORBIT, NECK, <u>and IAC</u> MRI	Original Date: November 2007
CPT Codes: 70540, 70542, 70543	Last Revised Date: <u>May 2023</u> March 2022
Guideline Number: NIA_CG_014	Implementation Date: January 2024 23

GENERAL INFORMATION

- It is an expectation that all patients receive care/services from a licensed clinician. All appropriate supporting documentation, including recent pertinent office visit notes, laboratory data, and results of any special testing must be provided. If applicable: All prior relevant imaging results and the reason that alternative imaging cannot be performed must be included in the documentation submitted.
- Where a specific clinical indication is not directly addressed in this guideline, medical necessity determination will be made based on widely accepted standard of care criteria. These criteria are supported by evidence-based or peer-reviewed sources such as medical literature, societal guidelines and state/national recommendations.

INDICATIONS FOR ORBIT MRI

If there is a combination request* for an overlapping body part, either requested at the same time or sequentially (within the past 3 months) the results of the prior study should be:

- Inconclusive or show a need for additional or follow up imaging evaluation OR
- The office notes should clearly document an indication why overlapping imaging is needed and how it will change management for the patient.

(*Unless approvable in the combination section as noted in the guidelines)

MRI is superior for the evaluation of the visual pathways, globe and soft tissues; CT is preferred for visualizing bony detail and calcifications^{1, 2}

- Abnormal external or direct eye exam**

*National Imaging Associates, Inc. (NIA) is a subsidiary of Magellan Healthcare, Inc.

- Exophthalmos (proptosis) or enophthalmos
- Ophthalmoplegia with concern for orbital pathology
- Unilateral optic disk swelling³⁻⁵
- Documented visual field defect⁶⁻⁹
 - Unilateral or with abnormal optic disc(s) (e.g., optic disc blurring, edema, or pallor); **AND**
 - Not explained by underlying diagnosis, glaucoma, or macular degeneration
- **Optic neuritis**¹⁰⁻¹⁴
 - If atypical presentation (bilateral, absence of pain, optic nerve hemorrhages, severe visual impairment, lack of response to steroids, poor recovery or recurrence)^{15, 16}
 - If needed to confirm optic neuritis and rule out compressive lesions
- **Orbital trauma**^{17, 18}
 - Physical findings of direct eye injury
 - Suspected orbital trauma with indeterminate x-ray or ultrasound
- **Orbital or ocular mass/tumor, suspected or known**^{1, 7}
- **Clinical suspicion of orbital infection**^{1, 2}
- **Clinical suspicion of osteomyelitis**^{19, 20}
 - Direct visualization of bony deformity **OR**
 - Abnormal x-rays
- **Clinical suspicion of Orbital Inflammatory Disease** (e.g., eye pain and restricted eye movement with suspected orbital pseudotumor)²¹
- **Congenital orbital anomalies**
- **Complex strabismus syndromes** (with ophthalmoplegia or ophthalmoparesis) to aid in diagnosis, treatment and/or surgical planning²²⁻²⁴

NOTE: FOR ADDITIONAL ONCOLOGIC ORBIT MRI INDICATIONS, CLICK [HERE](#)

INDICATIONS FOR ORBIT AND BRAIN MRI COMBINATION STUDIES:

- Optic neuropathy or unilateral optic disk swelling of unclear etiology to distinguish between a compressive lesion of the optic nerve, optic neuritis, ischemic optic

neuropathy (arteritic or non-arteritic), central retinal vein occlusion or optic nerve infiltrative disorders²⁵

- Bilateral optic disk swelling (papilledema) with vision loss³
- Optic neuritis
 - If atypical presentation (bilateral, absence of pain, optic nerve hemorrhages, severe visual impairment, lack of response to steroids, poor recovery or recurrence)¹¹⁻¹⁶
 - If needed to confirm optic neuritis and rule out compressive lesions
- Known or suspected neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder with severe, recurrent, or bilateral optic neuritis²⁶
- **Suspected retinoblastoma**^{27, 28}
- For approved indications as noted above and being performed in a child under 8 years of age who will need anesthesia for the procedure and there is a suspicion of concurrent intracranial pathology²⁹

INDICATIONS FOR FACE/SINUS MRI:

- **Rhinosinusitis**³⁰
 - Clinical suspicion of fungal infection³¹
 - Clinical suspicion of orbital or intracranial complications,^{19, 20} such as
 - Preseptal, orbital, or central nervous system infection
 - Osteomyelitis
 - Cavernous sinus thrombosis
- **Sinonasal obstruction, suspected-mass**, based on exam, nasal endoscopy, or prior imaging^{30, 32}
- **Anosmia or Dysosmia** based on objective testing that is persistent and of unknown origin³³⁻³⁵
- **Suspected infection**
 - Osteomyelitis (after x-rays)³⁶
 - Abscess based on clinical signs and symptoms of infection
- **Face mass**^{30, 37, 38}
 - Present on physical exam and remains non-diagnostic after x-ray or ultrasound is completed
 - Known or highly suspected head and neck cancer on examination³⁰
 - Failed 2 weeks of treatment for suspected infectious adenopathy³⁹
- **Facial trauma**^{17, 18, 40, 41}
 - Concern for soft tissue injury to further evaluate for treatment or surgical planning⁴²
- **Granulomatosis with polyangiitis (Wegener's granulomatosis) disease**³¹
- **Trigeminal neuralgia/neuropathy** (for evaluation of the extracranial nerve course)

- If atypical features (e.g., bilateral, hearing loss, dizziness/vertigo, visual changes, sensory loss, numbness, pain > 2min, pain outside trigeminal nerve distribution, progression)^{33, 43}

NOTE: FOR ADDITIONAL ONCOLOGIC FACE/SINUS MRI INDICATIONS, CLICK [HERE](#)

INDICATIONS FOR FACE/SINUS AND BRAIN MRI COMBINATION STUDIES:

- ~~Anosmia or dysosmia on objective testing that is persistent and of unknown origin~~^{33, 35, 44}
- Granulomatosis with polyangiitis (Wegener's granulomatosis) disease⁴⁴
- Trigeminal neuralgia that meets the above criteria^{33, 43}
- For approved indications as noted above and being performed in a child under 8 years of age who will need anesthesia for the procedure and there is a suspicion of concurrent intracranial pathology²⁹

INDICATIONS FOR NECK MRI:

Suspected tumor or cancer⁴⁵:

- Suspicious lesions in mouth or throat³⁸
- Suspicious mass/tumor found on another imaging study and needing clarification
- Neck mass or lymphadenopathy (non-parotid or non-thyroid)
 - Present on physical exam and remains non-diagnostic after ultrasound is completed³⁸
 - Mass or abnormality found on other imaging study and needing further evaluation
 - Increased risk for malignancy with one or more of the following findings⁴⁶:
 - Fixation to adjacent tissues
 - Firm consistency
 - Size >1.5 cm
 - Ulceration of overlying skin
 - Mass present ≥ two weeks (or uncertain duration) without significant fluctuation and not considered of infectious cause
 - History of cancer
 - Failed 2 weeks of treatment for suspected infectious adenopathy³⁹
 - Pediatric (≤18 years old) considerations¹⁰
 - Ultrasound should be inconclusive or suspicious unless there is a history of malignancy¹¹

Note: For discrete cystic lesions of the neck, an ultrasound should be performed as initial imaging unless there is a high suspicion of malignancy

- Neck Mass (parotid)⁴⁵

- Parotid mass found on other imaging study and needing further evaluation (US is the initial imaging study of a parotid region mass)
- Neck Mass (thyroid)⁴⁷
 - Staging and monitoring for recurrence of known thyroid cancer⁴⁷
 - To assess extent of thyroid tissue when other imaging suggests extension through the thoracic inlet into the mediastinum or concern for airway compression^{48, 49}

Note: US is the initial imaging study of a thyroid region mass. Biopsy is usually the next step. In the evaluation of known thyroid malignancy, CT is preferred over MRI since there is less respiratory motion artifact. Chest CT may be included for preoperative assessment in some cases

Known or suspected deep space infections or abscesses of the pharynx or neck with signs or symptoms of infection⁵⁰

Other indications for a Neck MRI:

- MR Sialography to evaluate salivary ducts^{51, 52}
- Vocal cord lesions or vocal cord paralysis⁵³
- Unexplained ear pain when ordered by a specialist with all of the following⁵⁴
 - Otoloscopic exam, nasolaryngoscopy, lab evaluation (ESR, CBC) **AND**
 - Risk factor for malignancy i.e., tobacco use, alcohol use, dysphagia, weight loss**OR** age older than 50 years
- Diagnosed primary hyperparathyroidism when surgery is planned
 - Previous nondiagnostic ultrasound or nuclear medicine scan^{55, 56}
- Bell's palsy/hemifacial spasm (for evaluation of the extracranial nerve course)
 - If atypical signs, slow resolution beyond three weeks, no improvement at four months, or facial twitching/spasms prior to onset⁵⁷
- Objective cranial nerve palsy (CN IX-XII) (for evaluation of the extracranial nerve course)^{33, 58}
- Brachial plexopathy if mechanism of injury or EMG/NCV studies are suggestive^{59, 60}

Note: Chest MRI is preferred study, but neck and/or shoulder (upper extremity) MRI can be ordered-approved depending on the suspected location of injury

NOTE: FOR ADDITIONAL ONCOLOGIC NECK MRI INDICATIONS, CLICK [HERE](#)

INDICATIONS FOR NECK AND BRAIN MRI COMBINATION STUDIES:

- Objective cranial nerve palsy (CN IX-XII) (for evaluation of the extracranial nerve course)^{33, 58}
- ~~Bell's Palsy/hemifacial spasmms for evaluation of the extracranial nerve coursethat meets the above criteria⁵⁷ -if atypical signs, slow resolution beyond three weeks, no improvement at four months, or facial twitching/spasms prior to onset~~

- For approved indications as noted above and being performed in a child under 8 years of age who will need anesthesia for the procedure and there is a suspicion of concurrent intracranial pathology²⁹

Indications for Internal Auditory Canal (IAC) MRI (Not including Brain)

- Unilateral non-pulsatile tinnitus
- Pulsatile tinnitus
- Suspected acoustic neuroma (Schwannoma) or cerebellar pontine angle tumor with any of the following signs and symptoms: unilateral hearing loss by audiometry, headache, disturbed balance or gait, unilateral tinnitus, facial weakness, or altered sense of taste
- Suspected cholesteatoma
- Suspected glomus tumor
- Asymmetric sensorineural hearing loss on audiogram
- Congenital/childhood sensorineural hearing loss suspected to be due to a structural abnormality⁶¹⁻⁶³ (CNVIII, the brain parenchyma, or the membranous labyrinth). CT is the preferred imaging modality for the osseous anatomy and malformations of the inner ear.
- CSF otorrhea (MRI/Nuclear Cisternography for intermittent leaks, CT for active leaks); there should be a high suspicion or confirmatory CSF fluid laboratory testing (Beta-2 transferrin assay)
- Bell's Palsy for evaluation of the extracranial nerve course -if atypical signs, slow resolution beyond three weeks, no improvement at four months, or facial twitching/spasms prior to onset⁵⁷

ADDITIONAL ONCOLOGIC INDICATIONS FOR ORBIT/FACE/SINUS/NECK MRI

Known tumor or cancer of skull base, orbits, sinuses, face, tongue, larynx, nasopharynx, pharynx, or salivary glands⁶⁴

- Initial staging³⁸
- Restaging during treatment
- Suspected recurrence or new metastases based on symptoms or examination findings
 - New mass
 - Change in lymph nodes⁶⁵
- Surveillance appropriate for tumor type and stage

Indication for combination studies for the initial pre-therapy staging of cancer, OR active monitoring for recurrence as clinically indicated OR evaluation of suspected metastases

- < 5 concurrent studies to include CT or MRI of any of the following areas as appropriate depending on the cancer: Neck, Abdomen, Pelvis, Chest, Brain, Cervical Spine, Thoracic Spine or Lumbar Spine

Pre-operative/procedural evaluation

- Pre-operative evaluation for a planned surgery or procedure

Post-operative/procedural evaluation

- When imaging, physical, or laboratory findings indicate surgical or procedural complications

Further evaluation of indeterminate findings on prior imaging (unless follow up is otherwise specified within the guideline):

- -For initial evaluation of an inconclusive finding on a prior imaging report that requires further clarification.³⁷
- ▲One follow-up exam of a prior indeterminate MR/CT finding to ensure no suspicious interval change has occurred. (No further surveillance unless specified as highly suspicious or change was found on last follow-up exam)

~~Where a specific clinical indication is not directly addressed in this guideline, medical necessity determination will be made based on widely accepted standard of care criteria. These criteria are supported by evidence-based or peer-reviewed sources such as medical literature, societal guidelines, and state/national recommendations.~~

BACKGROUND:

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is used in the evaluation of face and neck region masses, trauma, and infection. The ~~soft-tissues~~soft tissue contrast between normal and abnormal tissues provided by MRI is sensitive for differentiating between inflammatory disease and malignant tumors and permits the precise delineation of tumor margins. MRI is used for therapy planning and follow-up of face and neck neoplasms. It is also used for the evaluation of neck lymphadenopathy and vocal cord lesions.

CT scanning remains the study of choice for the imaging evaluation of acute and chronic inflammatory diseases of the sinonasal cavities. MRI is not considered the first-line study for routine sinus imaging because of limitations in the definition of the bony anatomy and length of imaging time. MRI for confirmation of diagnosis of sinusitis is discouraged because of hypersensitivity (overdiagnosis) in comparison to CT without contrast. MRI, however, is superior to CT in differentiating inflammatory conditions from neoplastic processes. MRI may better depict intraorbital and intracranial complications in cases of aggressive sinus infection, as well as differentiating soft-tissue masses from inflammatory mucosal disease. MRI may also identify fungal invasive sinusitis or encephaloceles.

Anosmia – Nonstructural causes of anosmia include post viral symptoms, medications (Amitriptyline, Enalapril, Nifedipine, Propranolol, Penicillamine, Sumatriptan, Cisplatin, Trifluoperazine, Propylthiouracil). These should be considered prior to advanced imaging to look for a structural cause. Anosmia and dysgeusia have been reported as common early symptoms in patients with COVID-19, occurring in greater than 80 percent of patients. For isolated anosmia, imaging is typically not needed once the diagnosis of COVID has been made given the high association. As such, COVID testing should be done prior to imaging.⁶⁶⁻⁶⁸

This is first line as per ACR

MRI Orbits, Face, and Neck MRI rather than MRI Brain is the mainstay for directly imaging the olfactory apparatus and sinonasal or anterior cranial fossa tumors that may impair or directly involve the olfactory apparatus.³³

CSF (cerebrospinal fluid) leaks – For CSF rhinorrhea, Sinus CT is indicated when looking to characterize a bony defect. For CSF otorrhea, Temporal Bone CT is indicated. For intermittent leaks and complex cases, consider CT/MRI/Nuclear Cisternography. There should be a high suspicion or confirmatory CSF fluid laboratory testing (Beta-2 transferrin assay) ~~CSF fluid should always be confirmed with laboratory testing (i.e., Beta 2 transferrin assay).~~^{69, 70}

Trigeminal Neuralgia – According to the International Headache Society, TN is defined as “a disorder characterized by recurrent unilateral brief electric shock-like pain, abrupt in onset and termination, limited to the distribution of one or more divisions of the trigeminal nerve and triggered by innocuous stimuli.”⁷¹

POLICY HISTORY

Date	Summary
<u>March 2023</u>	<p><u>Updated references</u></p> <p><u>Updated background</u></p> <p><u>Added:</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> — <u>Combo Orbit/Brain MRI— Suspected retinoblastoma</u> — <u>•Combo Neck/Brain MRI— Bell’s Palsy/hemifacial spasms that meets the above criteria</u> — <u>Section on further evaluation of indeterminate or questionable findings on prior imaging</u>
<u>March 2022</u>	<p><u>Updated references</u></p> <p><u>Added New Combo statement</u></p> <p><u>Orbit</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • <u>Clarified:</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ <u>Optic neuritis</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ▪ <u>If atypical presentation (bilateral, absence of pain, optic nerve hemorrhages, severe visual impairment, lack of response to steroids, poor recovery or recurrence)</u> ▪ <u>If needed to confirm optic neuritis and rule out compressive lesions (combo section)</u> ○ <u>Complex strabismus syndromes (with ophthalmoplegia or ophthalmoparesis)</u> <p><u>Sinus</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • <u>Re-ordered indications</u> • <u>Reformatted and updated backgrounds</u> • <u>Clarified:</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ <u>Abscess</u> ○ <u>Facial trauma— Concern for soft tissue injury to further evaluate for treatment or surgical planning</u> • <u>Deleted:</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ <u>Physical findings of direct facial bone injury</u> <p><u>Neck</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • <u>Reformatted indications</u> • <u>Added:</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ <u>Mass or abnormality found on other imaging study and needing further evaluation</u> • <u>Clarified</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ <u>Non thyroid masses</u> ○ <u>Thyroid imaging</u> ○ <u>Abscess</u>

May 2021

Updated References

Reordered Indications

Added hyperlinks to OTHER indications

Orbit

Added:

- ~~Complex strabismus to aid in diagnosis, treatment and/or surgical planning~~
- ~~If needed to confirm optic neuritis and rule out compressive lesions~~

Clarified:

- ~~Documented visual defect if MRI is contraindicated or cannot be performed *Unilateral or with abnormal optic disc(s) (i.e. Optic disc blurring, edema, or pallor);*~~
- ~~Clinical Suspicion of osteomyelitis: Direct visualization of bony deformity OR Abnormal X rays~~
- ~~Optic neuropathy or unilateral optic disk swelling of unclear etiology (Combo Orbit/Brain CT)~~

Sinus/Face

Added:

- ~~Facial Trauma For further evaluation of a known fracture for treatment or surgical planning~~
- ~~Dysosmia~~

Clarified:

- ~~Sinonasal obstruction, suspected mass, based on exam, nasal endoscopy, or prior imaging~~
- ~~Note: CSF (cerebrospinal fluid) rhinorrhea Sinus CT is indicated when looking to characterize a bony defect. CSF otorrhea Temporal Bone CT is indicated. For intermittent leaks and complex cases consider CT/MRI/Nuclear Cisternography). CSF fluid should always be confirmed with laboratory testing (Beta-2 transferrin assay)~~

~~Deleted:~~

- ~~Trigeminal neuralgia if Age < 40~~

Neck

Added:

	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Neck Mass or lymphadenopathy (non-parotid region or thyroid) • Unexplained ear pain when ordered by a specialist with all the following (Earwood, 2018) <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ Otoscope exam, nasolaryngoscopy, lab evaluation (ESR, CBC) AND ○ Risk factor for malignancy ie tobacco use, alcohol use, dysphagia, weight loss OR age older than 50 years • Brachial Plexopathy (Vijayasarathi, 2016) if mechanism of injury or EMG/NCV studies are suggestive <p>Note: Chest MRI is preferred study, but neck and/or shoulder (upper extremity) MRI can be ordered depending on the suspected location of injury</p> <p>All</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Removed statement: A single authorization for CPT code 70540, 70542, or 70543 includes imaging of the Orbit, Face, Sinuses, and Neck. Multiple authorizations are not required
May 2020	<p><u>Clarified:</u></p> <p>Orbit</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Ophthalmoplegia with concern for orbital pathology • Documented visual field defect if MRI is contraindicated or cannot be performed • Orbital or ocular mass/tumor, suspected or known • Clinical Suspicion of orbital infection • Clinical Suspicion of Orbital Inflammatory Disease (e.g., eye pain and restricted eye movement with suspected orbital pseudotumor) <p>Face/Sinus</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Suspected infection <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ Osteomyelitis (after x rays) ○ Abscess • Facial Trauma <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ Post traumatic CSF rhinorrhea (for CSF otorrhea Temporal Bone imaging is recommended) • Anosmia on objective testing that is persistent and of unknown origin (also in Brain and Sinus combo section) <p>Neck</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Neck mass (non-parotid or thyroid)

	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ Note: For discrete cystic lesions of the neck, an ultrasound should be performed as initial imaging unless there is a high suspicion of malignancy ● MR Sialography to evaluate salivary ducts ● Objective cranial nerve palsy (CN IX-XII) (for evaluation of the extracranial nerve course) (also in Brain and Neck combo section) <p>Combo—Brain and Orbit</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ● Reworded: Unilateral optic disk swelling/optic neuropathy of unclear etiology to distinguish between a compressive lesion of the optic nerve, optic neuritis, ischemic optic neuropathy (arteritic or non-arteritic), central retinal vein occlusion or optic nerve infiltrative disorders ● Bilateral optic disk swelling (papilledema) with vision loss <p>Added: Orbit</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ● MRI is superior for the evaluation of the visual pathways, globe and soft tissues, CT is preferred for visualizing bony detail and calcifications ● Unilateral optic disk swelling ● Under documented visual field defect <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ Unilateral or with optic disc abnormality ● Congenital orbital anomalies <p>Added: Face/Sinus</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ● Examples of orbital or intracranial complications <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ Preseptal, orbital, or central nervous system infection ○ Osteomyelitis ○ Cavernous sinus thrombosis ● Face mass <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ Known or highly suspected head and neck cancer on examination ● Trigeminal neuralgia/neuropathy (for evaluation of the extracranial nerve course) <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ If < 40 years of age or atypical features (e.g. bilateral, hearing loss, dizziness/vertigo, visual changes, sensory loss, numbness, pain > 2min, pain outside trigeminal nerve distribution, progression) <p>Added: Neck</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ● Suspicious mass/tumor found on another imaging study and needing clarification
--	--

	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Under increased risk for malignancy <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ History of cancer ○ Mass present ≥ two weeks (or uncertain duration) without significant fluctuation and not considered of infectious cause • Neck Mass (parotid) <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ Parotid mass found on other imaging study and needing further evaluation <p><u>Added:</u> Neck</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Neck Mass (thyroid) — US is the initial imaging study of a thyroid region mass. CT is preferred over MRI in the evaluation of thyroid masses since there is less respiratory motion artifact <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ Staging and monitoring for recurrence of known thyroid cancer ○ To assess extent of thyroid tissue when other imaging suggests extension through the thoracic inlet into the mediastinum or concern for airway compression (Lin, 2016; Gharib 2016) <p>NOTE: Chest CT may be included for preoperative assessment in some cases</p> • Pediatric patients (≤18 years old) <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ Neck masses in the pediatric population if ultrasound is inconclusive or suspicious ○ History of malignancy <p><u>Added:</u> Neck</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Known or suspected deep space infections or abscesses of the pharynx or neck <p>Combo</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Known tumor or cancer of skull base, orbits, sinuses, face, tongue, larynx, nasopharynx, pharynx, or salivary glands <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ Surveillance appropriate for tumor type and stage • For approved indications as noted above and being performed in a child under 8 years of age who will need anesthesia for the procedure and there is a suspicion of concurrent intracranial pathology <p><u>Added:</u> Combo</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Added sub Combo sections <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ Brain and Orbit
--	--

	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Optic Neuritis if atypical presentation, severe visual impairment or poor recovery following initial onset or treatment onset <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ Brain and Sinus ○ Brain and Neck <p><u>Deleted:</u></p> <p>Orbit</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Unilateral optic disk swelling papilledema approve dedicated Orbits MRI even if Brain MRI approved <p><u>Deleted:</u></p> <p>Face/Sinus</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Clinical Suspicion of osteomyelitis <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ Direct visualization of lesion over bone ○ Abnormal x-ray • Face Mass <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ Prior history of tumor with suspicion of recurrence • Facial trauma <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ Suspected orbital trauma with indeterminate x-ray or ultrasound <p>Neck</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Palpable from Palpable suspicious lesions in mouth or throat • Salivary gland stones or clinical concern for abscess • Thoracic Outlet Syndrome <p>Combo</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Trigeminal neuralgia • Cranial neuropathy (weakness or sensory abnormalities of the head and neck)
July 2019	<p><u>ORBIT MRI:</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Removed: Orbital asymmetry and Suspected hyperthyroidism (such as Graves' disease) • Added: Clinical suspicion of osteomyelitis <p><u>Face/Sinus MRI</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Added specifics to Face Mass: <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ Present on physical exam and remains non-diagnostic after x-ray or ultrasound is completed (Kuno, 2014) ○ Clinical concern for abscess ○ Failed 2 weeks of treatment for suspected infectious adenopathy (Haynes, 2015). ○ Prior history of tumor with suspicion of recurrence

	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> Added: Facial trauma with physical findings of direct facial bone injury; suspected orbital trauma w/indeterminate x ray or US; CSF leak (rhinorrhea or otorrhea) <p><u>Other Indications</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> Added: Suspected recurrence or new metastases based on symptoms or examination findings with new mass or change in lymph nodes; Anosmia on objective testing; Trigeminal neuralgia if <40 years of age or atypical features; Objective cranial nerve palsy; and Granulomatosis with polyangiitis (Wegener's granulomatosis) disease <p><u>Indications for combo studies orbit/face/sinus neck MRI with brain MRI</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> Added: Bilateral papilledema with vision loss AND Known or suspected neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder with severe, recurrent, or bilateral optic neuritis
--	---

REFERENCES

1. Hande PC, Talwar I. Multimodality imaging of the orbit. *Indian J Radiol Imaging*. Jul 2012;22(3):227-39. doi:10.4103/0971-3026.107184
2. Kennedy TA, Corey AS, Policeni B, et al. ACR Appropriateness Criteria(®) Orbits Vision and Visual Loss. *J Am Coll Radiol*. May 2018;15(5s):S116-s131. doi:10.1016/j.jacr.2018.03.023
3. Margolin E. The swollen optic nerve: an approach to diagnosis and management. *Pract Neurol*. Aug 2019;19(4):302-309. doi:10.1136/practneurol-2018-002057
4. Passi N, Degnan AJ, Levy LM. MR imaging of papilledema and visual pathways: effects of increased intracranial pressure and pathophysiologic mechanisms. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*. May 2013;34(5):919-24. doi:10.3174/ajnr.A3022
5. Hata M, Miyamoto K. Causes and Prognosis of Unilateral and Bilateral Optic Disc Swelling. *Neuroophthalmology*. Aug 2017;41(4):187-191. doi:10.1080/01658107.2017.1299766
6. Fadzli F, Ramli N, Ramli NM. MRI of optic tract lesions: review and correlation with visual field defects. *Clin Radiol*. Oct 2013;68(10):e538-51. doi:10.1016/j.crad.2013.05.104
7. Kedar S, Ghatge D, Corbett JJ. Visual fields in neuro-ophthalmology. *Indian J Ophthalmol*. Mar-Apr 2011;59(2):103-9. doi:10.4103/0301-4738.77013
8. Prasad S, Galetta SL. Approach to the patient with acute monocular visual loss. *Neurol Clin Pract*. Mar 2012;2(1):14-23. doi:10.1212/CPJ.0b013e31824cb084
9. Sadun AA, Wang MY. Abnormalities of the optic disc. *Handb Clin Neurol*. 2011;102:117-57. doi:10.1016/b978-0-444-52903-9.00011-x
10. Beck RW, Cleary PA, Anderson MM, Jr., et al. A randomized, controlled trial of corticosteroids in the treatment of acute optic neuritis. The Optic Neuritis Study Group. *N Engl J Med*. Feb 27 1992;326(9):581-8. doi:10.1056/nejm199202273260901
11. Consortium of Multiple Sclerosis Centers. 2018 MRI Protocol and Clinical Guidelines for MS. Consortium of Multiple Sclerosis Centers (CMSC). Updated May 22, 2018. Accessed January 23, 2023. https://www.ms-care.org/page/MRI_protocol
12. Gala F. Magnetic resonance imaging of optic nerve. *Indian J Radiol Imaging*. Oct-Dec 2015;25(4):421-38. doi:10.4103/0971-3026.169462
13. Srikanth J, Siritho S, Ngamsombat C, Prayoonwiwat N, Chirapapaisan N. Differences in clinical features between optic neuritis in neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders and in multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler J Exp Transl Clin*. Jul-Sep 2018;4(3):2055217318791196. doi:10.1177/2055217318791196
14. Voss E, Raab P, Trebst C, Stangel M. Clinical approach to optic neuritis: pitfalls, red flags and differential diagnosis. *Ther Adv Neurol Disord*. Mar 2011;4(2):123-34. doi:10.1177/1756285611398702
15. Kaur K, Gurnani B, Devy N. Atypical optic neuritis - a case with a new surprise every visit. *GMS Ophthalmol Cases*. 2020;10:Doc11. doi:10.3205/oc000138
16. Phuljhele S, Kedar S, Saxena R. Approach to optic neuritis: An update. *Indian J Ophthalmol*. Sep 2021;69(9):2266-2276. doi:10.4103/ijo.IJO_3415_20
17. Lin KY, Ngai P, Echegoyen JC, Tao JP. Imaging in orbital trauma. *Saudi J Ophthalmol*. Oct 2012;26(4):427-32. doi:10.1016/j.sjopt.2012.08.002

18. Sung EK, Nadgir RN, Fujita A, et al. Injuries of the globe: what can the radiologist offer? *Radiographics*. May-Jun 2014;34(3):764-76. doi:10.1148/rg.343135120
19. Lee YJ, Sadigh S, Mankad K, Kapse N, Rajeswaran G. The imaging of osteomyelitis. *Quantitative imaging in medicine and surgery*. 2016;6(2):184-198. doi:10.21037/qims.2016.04.01
20. Arunkumar JS, Naik AS, Prasad KC, Santhosh SG. Role of nasal endoscopy in chronic osteomyelitis of maxilla and zygoma: a case report. *Case Rep Med*. 2011;2011:802964. doi:10.1155/2011/802964
21. Pakdaman MN, Sepahdari AR, Elkhamary SM. Orbital inflammatory disease: Pictorial review and differential diagnosis. *World J Radiol*. Apr 28 2014;6(4):106-15. doi:10.4329/wjr.v6.i4.106
22. Kadom N. Pediatric strabismus imaging. *Curr Opin Ophthalmol*. Sep 2008;19(5):371-8. doi:10.1097/ICU.0b013e328309f165
23. Demer JL, Clark RA, Kono R, Wright W, Velez F, Rosenbaum AL. A 12-year, prospective study of extraocular muscle imaging in complex strabismus. *J aapos*. Dec 2002;6(6):337-47. doi:10.1067/mpa.2002.129040
24. Engle EC. The genetic basis of complex strabismus. *Pediatr Res*. Mar 2006;59(3):343-8. doi:10.1203/01.pdr.0000200797.91630.08
25. Behbehani R. Clinical approach to optic neuropathies. *Clin Ophthalmol*. Sep 2007;1(3):233-46.
26. Wingerchuk DM, Banwell B, Bennett JL, et al. International consensus diagnostic criteria for neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorders. *Neurology*. Jul 14 2015;85(2):177-89. doi:10.1212/wnl.0000000000001729
27. de Graaf P, Göricke S, Rodjan F, et al. Guidelines for imaging retinoblastoma: imaging principles and MRI standardization. *Pediatr Radiol*. Jan 2012;42(1):2-14. doi:10.1007/s00247-011-2201-5
28. Razek AA, Elkhamary S. MRI of retinoblastoma. *Br J Radiol*. Sep 2011;84(1005):775-84. doi:10.1259/bjr/32022497
29. Lawson GR. Controversy: Sedation of children for magnetic resonance imaging. *Arch Dis Child*. Feb 2000;82(2):150-3. doi:10.1136/ad.82.2.150
30. Kirsch CFE, Bykowski J, Aulino JM, et al. ACR Appropriateness Criteria(®) Sinonasal Disease. *J Am Coll Radiol*. Nov 2017;14(11s):S550-s559. doi:10.1016/j.jacr.2017.08.041
31. Gavito-Higuera J, Mullins CB, Ramos-Duran L, Sandoval H, Akle N, Figueroa R. Sinonasal Fungal Infections and Complications: A Pictorial Review. *J Clin Imaging Sci*. 2016;6:23. doi:10.4103/2156-7514.184010
32. Rosenfeld RM, Piccirillo JF, Chandrasekhar SS, et al. Clinical practice guideline (update): adult sinusitis. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg*. Apr 2015;152(2 Suppl):S1-s39. doi:10.1177/0194599815572097
33. American College of Radiology. ACR Appropriateness Criteria® Cranial Neuropathy. American College of Radiology (ACR). Updated 2022. Accessed January 22, 2023. <https://acsearch.acr.org/docs/69509/Narrative/>

34. Rouby C, Thomas-Danguin T, Vigouroux M, et al. The lyon clinical olfactory test: validation and measurement of hyposmia and anosmia in healthy and diseased populations. *Int J Otolaryngol*. 2011;2011:203805. doi:10.1155/2011/203805
35. Zaghouni H, Slim I, Zina NB, Mallat N, Tajouri H, Kraiem C. Kallmann syndrome: MRI findings. *Indian J Endocrinol Metab*. Oct 2013;17(Suppl 1):S142-5. doi:10.4103/2230-8210.119536
36. Pincus DJ, Armstrong MB, Thaller SR. Osteomyelitis of the craniofacial skeleton. *Semin Plast Surg*. 2009;23(2):73-79. doi:10.1055/s-0029-1214159
37. Koeller KK. Radiologic Features of Sinonasal Tumors. *Head Neck Pathol*. Mar 2016;10(1):1-12. doi:10.1007/s12105-016-0686-9
38. Kuno H, Onaya H, Fujii S, Ojiri H, Otani K, Satake M. Primary staging of laryngeal and hypopharyngeal cancer: CT, MR imaging and dual-energy CT. *Eur J Radiol*. Jan 2014;83(1):e23-35. doi:10.1016/j.ejrad.2013.10.022
39. Haynes J, Arnold KR, Aguirre-Oskins C, Chandra S. Evaluation of neck masses in adults. *Am Fam Physician*. May 15 2015;91(10):698-706.
40. Raju N, Ishwar P, Banerjee R. Role of multislice computed tomography and three-dimensional rendering in the evaluation of maxillofacial injuries. Original Article. *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Radiology*. September 1, 2017 2017;5(3):67-73. doi:10.4103/jomr.jomr_25_17
41. Echo A, Troy JS, Hollier LH, Jr. Frontal sinus fractures. *Semin Plast Surg*. 2010;24(4):375-382. doi:10.1055/s-0030-1269766
42. Kozakiewicz M, Olszycki M, Arkuszewski P, Stefańczyk L. [Magnetic resonance imaging in facial injuries and digital fusion CT/MRI]. *Otolaryngol Pol*. 2006;60(6):911-6. Zmiany pourazowe twarzy w obrazach MR oraz obrazach cyfrowej fuzji TK/MR.
43. Hughes MA, Frederickson AM, Branstetter BF, Zhu X, Sekula RF, Jr. MRI of the Trigeminal Nerve in Patients With Trigeminal Neuralgia Secondary to Vascular Compression. *AJR Am J Roentgenol*. Mar 2016;206(3):595-600. doi:10.2214/ajr.14.14156
44. Pakalniskis MG, Berg AD, Policeni BA, et al. The Many Faces of Granulomatosis With Polyangiitis: A Review of the Head and Neck Imaging Manifestations. *AJR Am J Roentgenol*. Dec 2015;205(6):W619-29. doi:10.2214/ajr.14.13864
45. American College of Radiology. ACR Appropriateness Criteria® Neck Mass/Adenopathy. American College of Radiology. Updated 2018. Accessed January 23, 2023. <https://acsearch.acr.org/docs/69504/Narrative/>
46. Pynnonen MA, Gillespie MB, Roman B, et al. Clinical Practice Guideline: Evaluation of the Neck Mass in Adults. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg*. Sep 2017;157(2_suppl):S1-s30. doi:10.1177/0194599817722550
47. American College of Radiology. ACR Appropriateness Criteria® Thyroid Disease. American College of Radiology. Updated 2018. Accessed January 22, 2023. <https://acsearch.acr.org/docs/3102386/Narrative/>
48. Gharib H, Papini E, Garber JR, et al. AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF CLINICAL ENDOCRINOLOGISTS, AMERICAN COLLEGE OF ENDOCRINOLOGY, AND ASSOCIAZIONE MEDICI ENDOCRINOLOGI MEDICAL GUIDELINES FOR CLINICAL PRACTICE FOR THE DIAGNOSIS AND

- MANAGEMENT OF THYROID NODULES--2016 UPDATE. *Endocr Pract.* May 2016;22(5):622-39. doi:10.4158/ep161208.GI
49. Lin YS, Wu HY, Lee CW, Hsu CC, Chao TC, Yu MC. Surgical management of substernal goitres at a tertiary referral centre: A retrospective cohort study of 2,104 patients. *Int J Surg.* Mar 2016;27:46-52. doi:10.1016/j.ijssu.2016.01.032
50. Meyer AC, Kimbrough TG, Finkelstein M, Sidman JD. Symptom duration and CT findings in pediatric deep neck infection. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg.* Feb 2009;140(2):183-6. doi:10.1016/j.otohns.2008.11.005
51. Burke CJ, Thomas RH, Howlett D. Imaging the major salivary glands. *Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg.* Jun 2011;49(4):261-9. doi:10.1016/j.bjoms.2010.03.002
52. Ren YD, Li XR, Zhang J, Long LL, Li WX, Han YQ. Conventional MRI techniques combined with MR sialography on T2-3D-DRIVE in Sjögren syndrome. *Int J Clin Exp Med.* 2015;8(3):3974-82.
53. Dankbaar JW, Pameijer FA. Vocal cord paralysis: anatomy, imaging and pathology. *Insights Imaging.* Dec 2014;5(6):743-51. doi:10.1007/s13244-014-0364-y
54. Earwood JS, Rogers TS, Rathjen NA. Ear Pain: Diagnosing Common and Uncommon Causes. *Am Fam Physician.* Jan 1 2018;97(1):20-27.
55. Khan MA, Rafiq S, Lanitis S, et al. Surgical treatment of primary hyperparathyroidism: description of techniques and advances in the field. *Indian J Surg.* Aug 2014;76(4):308-15. doi:10.1007/s12262-013-0898-0
56. Piciocchi S, Barone D, Gavelli G, Dubini A, Oboldi D, Matteuci F. Primary hyperparathyroidism: imaging to pathology. *J Clin Imaging Sci.* 2012;2:59. doi:10.4103/2156-7514.102053
57. Quesnel AM, Lindsay RW, Hadlock TA. When the bell tolls on Bell's palsy: finding occult malignancy in acute-onset facial paralysis. *Am J Otolaryngol.* Sep-Oct 2010;31(5):339-42. doi:10.1016/j.amjoto.2009.04.003
58. Mumtaz S, Jensen MB. Facial neuropathy with imaging enhancement of the facial nerve: a case report. *Future Neurol.* Nov 1 2014;9(6):571-576. doi:10.2217/fnl.14.55
59. Vijayasarithi A, Chokshi FH. MRI of the brachial plexus: A practical review. *Appl Radiol.* 2016;45(4):9-18.
60. American College of Radiology. ACR Appropriateness Criteria® Plexopathy. American College of Radiology (ACR). Updated 2021. Accessed January 23, 2023. <https://acsearch.acr.org/docs/69487/Narrative/>
61. Joshi VM, Navlekar SK, Kishore GR, Reddy KJ, Kumar EC. CT and MR imaging of the inner ear and brain in children with congenital sensorineural hearing loss. *Radiographics.* May-Jun 2012;32(3):683-98. doi:10.1148/rg.323115073
62. Dewan K, Wippold FJ, 2nd, Lieu JE. Enlarged vestibular aqueduct in pediatric sensorineural hearing loss. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg.* Apr 2009;140(4):552-8. doi:10.1016/j.otohns.2008.12.035
63. Ralli M, Rolesi R, Anzivino R, Turchetta R, Fetoni AR. Acquired sensorineural hearing loss in children: current research and therapeutic perspectives. *Acta Otorhinolaryngol Ital.* Dec

- 2017;37(6):500-508. Sordità infantile acquisita: stato dell'arte della ricerca e prospettive terapeutiche. doi:10.14639/0392-100x-1574
64. Razek AA, Huang BY. Soft tissue tumors of the head and neck: imaging-based review of the WHO classification. *Radiographics*. Nov-Dec 2011;31(7):1923-54. doi:10.1148/rg.317115095
65. Hoang JK, Vanka J, Ludwig BJ, Glastonbury CM. Evaluation of cervical lymph nodes in head and neck cancer with CT and MRI: tips, traps, and a systematic approach. *AJR Am J Roentgenol*. Jan 2013;200(1):W17-25. doi:10.2214/ajr.12.8960
66. Geyer M, Nilssen E. Evidence-based management of a patient with anosmia. *Clin Otolaryngol*. Oct 2008;33(5):466-9. doi:10.1111/j.1749-4486.2008.01819.x
67. Lechien JR, Chiesa-Estomba CM, De Siati DR, et al. Olfactory and gustatory dysfunctions as a clinical presentation of mild-to-moderate forms of the coronavirus disease (COVID-19): a multicenter European study. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol*. Aug 2020;277(8):2251-2261. doi:10.1007/s00405-020-05965-1
68. Saniasiaya J, Islam MA, Abdullah B. Prevalence of Olfactory Dysfunction in Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): A Meta-analysis of 27,492 Patients. *Laryngoscope*. Apr 2021;131(4):865-878. doi:10.1002/lary.29286
69. Mantur M, Łukaszewicz-Zajac M, Mroczko B, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid leakage--reliable diagnostic methods. *Clin Chim Acta*. May 12 2011;412(11-12):837-40. doi:10.1016/j.cca.2011.02.017
70. Selcuk H, Albayram S, Ozer H, et al. Intrathecal gadolinium-enhanced MR cisternography in the evaluation of CSF leakage. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*. Jan 2010;31(1):71-5. doi:10.3174/ajnr.A1788
71. Headache Classification Committee of the International Headache Society (IHS) The International Classification of Headache Disorders, 3rd edition. *Cephalalgia*. Jan 2018;38(1):1-211. doi:10.1177/0333102417738202

ADDITIONAL RESOURCES

1. Abuabara A. Cerebrospinal fluid rhinorrhoea: diagnosis and management. *Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal*. Sep 1 2007;12(5):E397-400.
2. Beck RW, Cleary PA, Anderson MM, Jr., et al. A randomized, controlled trial of corticosteroids in the treatment of acute optic neuritis. The Optic Neuritis Study Group. *N Engl J Med*. Feb 27 1992;326(9):581-8. doi:10.1056/nejm199202273260901
3. Borges A, Casselman J. Imaging the trigeminal nerve. *Eur J Radiol*. May 2010;74(2):323-40. doi:10.1016/j.ejrad.2010.02.006
4. Buncke MJ, Lilly GL, Hamilton BE, MacArthur CJ. When is pre-operative imaging required for craniofacial dermoid cysts/sinuses? A review. *Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol*. Feb 18 2022;155:111090. doi:10.1016/j.ijporl.2022.111090
5. Kransdorf MJ, Murphey MD, Wessell DE, et al. ACR Appropriateness Criteria(®) Soft Tissue Masses. *J Am Coll Radiol*. May 2018;15(5s):S189-s197. doi:10.1016/j.jacr.2018.03.012
6. Oh JW, Kim SH, Whang K. Traumatic Cerebrospinal Fluid Leak: Diagnosis and Management. *Korean J Neurotrauma*. Oct 2017;13(2):63-67. doi:10.13004/kjnt.2017.13.2.63
7. Razek AA, Huang BY. Soft tissue tumors of the head and neck: imaging-based review of the WHO classification. *Radiographics*. Nov-Dec 2011;31(7):1923-54. doi:10.1148/rg.317115095
8. Romano N, Federici M, Castaldi A. Imaging of cranial nerves: a pictorial overview. *Insights Imaging*. Mar 15 2019;10(1):33. doi:10.1186/s13244-019-0719-5
9. Tharin BD, Kini JA, York GE, Ritter JL. Brachial plexopathy: a review of traumatic and nontraumatic causes. *AJR Am J Roentgenol*. Jan 2014;202(1):W67-75. doi:10.2214/ajr.12.9554

POLICY HISTORY

Date	Summary
May 2023	Updated references Updated background Added: <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • Combo Orbit/Brain MRI -Suspected retinoblastoma • Combo Neck/Brain MRI -Bell's Palsy/hemifacial spasms that meets the above criteria • Section on further evaluation of indeterminate or questionable findings on prior imaging • General Information moved to beginning of guideline with added statement on clinical indications not addressed in this guideline Removed additional resources
March 2022	Updated references Added New Combo statement Orbit

	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> • <u>Clarified:</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ <u>Optic neuritis</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ▪ <u>If atypical presentation (bilateral, absence of pain, optic nerve hemorrhages, severe visual impairment, lack of response to steroids, poor recovery or recurrence)</u> ▪ <u>If needed to confirm optic neuritis and rule out compressive lesions (combo section)</u> ○ <u>Complex strabismus syndromes (with ophthalmoplegia or ophthalmoparesis)</u> <p><u>Sinus</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • <u>Re-ordered indications</u> • <u>Reformatted and updated backgrounds</u> • <u>Clarified:</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ <u>Abscess</u> ○ <u>Facial trauma - Concern for soft tissue injury to further evaluate for treatment or surgical planning</u> • <u>Deleted:</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ <u>Physical findings of direct facial bone injury</u> <p><u>Neck</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> • <u>Reformatted indications</u> • <u>Added:</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ <u>Mass or abnormality found on other imaging study and needing further evaluation</u> • <u>Clarified</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> ○ <u>Non thyroid masses</u> ○ <u>Thyroid imaging</u> ○ <u>Abscess</u>
<u>May 2021</u>	<p><u>Updated References</u></p> <p>Reordered Indications</p> <p>Added hyperlinks to OTHER indications</p> <p>Orbit Added:</p> <p>— <u>Complex strabismus to aid in diagnosis, treatment and/or surgical planning</u></p> <p>— <u>If needed to confirm optic neuritis and rule out compressive lesions</u></p> <p><u>Clarified:</u></p> <p>— <u>Documented visual defect if MRI is contraindicated or cannot be performed — Unilateral or with abnormal optic disc(s) (i.e. Optic disc blurring, edema, or pallor);</u></p>

	<p>— Clinical Suspicion of osteomyelitis: Direct visualization of bony deformity OR Abnormal X-rays</p> <p>— Optic neuropathy or unilateral optic disk swelling of unclear etiology (Combo Orbit/Brain CT)</p> <p><u>Sinus/Face— Added:</u></p> <p>— Facial Trauma— For further evaluation of a known fracture for treatment or surgical planning</p> <p>— Dysosmia</p> <p><u>Clarified:</u></p> <p>— Sinonasal obstruction, suspected mass, based on exam, nasal endoscopy, or prior imaging</p> <p>— Note: CSF (cerebrospinal fluid) rhinorrhea— Sinus CT is indicated when looking to characterize a bony defect. CSF otorrhea— Temporal Bone CT is indicated. For intermittent leaks and complex cases consider CT/MRI/Nuclear Cisternography). CSF fluid should always be confirmed with laboratory testing (Beta-2 transferrin assay)</p> <p><u>Deleted:</u></p> <p>• Trigeminal neuralgia— if Age < 40</p> <p><u>Neck— Added:</u></p> <p>— Neck Mass or lymphadenopathy (non-parotid region or thyroid)</p> <p>— Unexplained ear pain when ordered by a specialist with all the following (Earwood, 2018)</p> <p>— Otoloscopic exam, nasolaryngoscopy, lab evaluation (ESR, CBC) AND</p> <p>— Risk factor for malignancy ie tobacco use, alcohol use, dysphagia, weight loss OR age older than 50 years</p> <p>— Brachial Plexopathy (Vijayasarithi, 2016) if mechanism of injury or EMG/NCV studies are suggestive</p> <p>Note: Chest MRI is preferred study, but neck and/or shoulder (upper extremity) MRI can be ordered depending on the suspected location of injury</p> <p><u>All</u></p>
--	--

	<p>Removed statement: A single authorization for CPT code 70540, 70542, or 70543 includes imaging of the Orbit, Face, Sinuses, and Neck. Multiple authorizations are not required</p>
<u>May 2020</u>	<p><u>Clarified:</u></p> <p><u>Orbit</u></p> <p>Ophthalmoplegia with concern for orbital pathology</p> <p>Documented visual field defect if MRI is contraindicated or cannot be performed</p> <p>Orbital or ocular mass/tumor, suspected or known</p> <p>Clinical Suspicion of orbital infection</p> <p>Clinical Suspicion of Orbital Inflammatory Disease (e.g., eye pain and restricted eye movement with suspected orbital pseudotumor)</p> <p><u>Face/Sinus</u></p> <p>Suspected infection</p> <p>Osteomyelitis (after x rays)</p> <p>Abscess</p> <p>Facial Trauma</p> <p>Post traumatic CSF rhinorrhea (for CSF otorrhea Temporal Bone imaging is recommended)</p> <p>Anosmia on objective testing that is persistent and of unknown origin (also in Brain and Sinus combo section)</p> <p><u>Neck</u></p> <p>Neck mass (non-parotid or thyroid)</p> <p>Note: For discrete cystic lesions of the neck, an ultrasound should be performed as initial imaging unless there is a high suspicion of malignancy</p> <p>MR Sialography to evaluate salivary ducts</p> <p>Objective cranial nerve palsy (CN IX-XII) (for evaluation of the extracranial nerve course) (also in Brain and Neck combo section)</p> <p><u>Combo – Brain and Orbit</u></p> <p>Reworded: Unilateral optic disk swelling/optic neuropathy of unclear etiology to distinguish between a compressive lesion of the optic nerve, optic neuritis, ischemic optic neuropathy (arteritic or non-arteritic), central retinal vein occlusion or optic nerve infiltrative disorders</p> <p>Bilateral optic disk swelling (papilledema) with vision loss</p> <p><u>Added:</u></p> <p><u>Orbit</u></p> <p>MRI is superior for the evaluation of the visual pathways, globe and soft tissues, CT is preferred for visualizing bony detail and calcifications</p>

	<ul style="list-style-type: none"> — <u>Unilateral optic disk swelling</u> — <u>Under documented visual field defect</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> — <u>Unilateral or with optic disc abnormality</u> — <u>Congenital orbital anomalies</u> <p><u>Added:</u></p> <p><u>Face/Sinus</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> — <u>Examples of orbital or intracranial complications</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> — <u>Preseptal, orbital, or central nervous system infection</u> — <u>Osteomyelitis</u> — <u>Cavernous sinus thrombosis</u> — <u>Face mass</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> — <u>Known or highly suspected head and neck cancer on examination</u> — <u>Trigeminal neuralgia/neuropathy (for evaluation of the extracranial nerve course)</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> — <u>If < 40 years of age or atypical features (e.g. bilateral, hearing loss, dizziness/vertigo, visual changes, sensory loss, numbness, pain > 2min, pain outside trigeminal nerve distribution, progression)</u> <p><u>Added:</u></p> <p><u>Neck</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> — <u>Suspicious mass/tumor found on another imaging study and needing clarification</u> — <u>Under increased risk for malignancy</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> — <u>History of cancer</u> — <u>Mass present ≥ two weeks (or uncertain duration) without significant fluctuation and not considered of infectious cause</u> — <u>Neck Mass (parotid)</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> — <u>Parotid mass found on other imaging study and needing further evaluation</u> <p><u>Added:</u></p> <p><u>Neck</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> — <u>Neck Mass (thyroid) – US is the initial imaging study of a thyroid region mass. CT is preferred over MRI in the evaluation of thyroid masses since there is less respiratory motion artifact</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> — <u>Staging and monitoring for recurrence of known thyroid cancer</u> — <u>To assess extent of thyroid tissue when other imaging suggests extension through the thoracic inlet into the</u>
--	--

	<p><u>mediastinum or concern for airway compression (Lin, 2016; Gharib 2016)</u></p> <p><u>NOTE: Chest CT may be included for preoperative assessment in some cases</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <u>Pediatric patients (≤18 years old)</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <u>Neck masses in the pediatric population if ultrasound is inconclusive or suspicious</u> <u>History of malignancy</u> <p><u>Added:</u></p> <p><u>Neck</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <u>Known or suspected deep space infections or abscesses of the pharynx or neck</u> <p><u>Combo</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <u>Known tumor or cancer of skull base, orbits, sinuses, face, tongue, larynx, nasopharynx, pharynx, or salivary glands</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <u>Surveillance appropriate for tumor type and stage</u> <u>For approved indications as noted above and being performed in a child under 8 years of age who will need anesthesia for the procedure and there is a suspicion of concurrent intracranial pathology</u> <p><u>Added:</u></p> <p><u>Combo</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <u>Added sub Combo sections</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <u>Brain and Orbit</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <u>Optic Neuritis if atypical presentation, severe visual impairment or poor recovery following initial onset or treatment onset</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <u>Brain and Sinus</u> <u>Brain and Neck</u> <p><u>Deleted:</u></p> <p><u>Orbit</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <u>Unilateral optic disk swelling papilledema approve dedicated Orbits MRI even if Brain MRI approved</u> <p><u>Deleted:</u></p> <p><u>Face/Sinus</u></p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <u>Clinical Suspicion of osteomyelitis</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <u>Direct visualization of lesion over bone</u> <u>Abnormal x ray</u> <u>Face Mass</u> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <u>Prior history of tumor with suspicion of recurrence</u> <u>Facial trauma</u>
--	--

	<p>— Suspected orbital trauma with indeterminate x ray or ultrasound</p> <p><u>Neck</u></p> <p>— Palpable from Palpable suspicious lesions in mouth or throat</p> <p>— Salivary gland stones or clinical concern for abscess</p> <p>— Thoracic Outlet Syndrome</p> <p><u>Combo</u></p> <p>— Trigeminal neuralgia</p> <p>— Cranial neuropathy (weakness or sensory abnormalities of the head and neck)</p>
<u>July 2019</u>	<p><u>ORBIT MRI:</u></p> <p>— Removed: Orbital asymmetry and Suspected hyperthyroidism (such as Graves' disease)</p> <p>— Added: Clinical suspicion of osteomyelitis</p> <p><u>Face/Sinus MRI</u></p> <p>— Added specifics to Face Mass:</p> <p>— Present on physical exam and remains non diagnostic after x ray or ultrasound is completed (Kuno, 2014)</p> <p>— Clinical concern for abscess</p> <p>— Failed 2 weeks of treatment for suspected infectious adenopathy (Haynes, 2015).</p> <p>— Prior history of tumor with suspicion of recurrence</p> <p>— Added: Facial trauma with physical findings of direct facial bone injury; suspected orbital trauma w/indeterminate x ray or US; CSF leak (rhinorrhea or otorrhea)</p> <p><u>Other Indications</u></p> <p>— Added: Suspected recurrence or new metastases based on symptoms or examination findings with new mass or change in lymph nodes; Anosmia on objective testing; Trigeminal neuralgia if <40 years of age or atypical features; Objective cranial nerve palsy; and Granulomatosis with polyangiitis (Wegener's granulomatosis) disease</p> <p><u>Indications for combo studies orbit/face/sinus neck MRI with brain MRI</u></p> <p>— Added: Bilateral papilledema with vision loss AND Known or suspected neuromyelitis optica spectrum disorder with severe, recurrent, or bilateral optic neuritis</p>

Reviewed / Approved by NIA Clinical Guideline Committee

Disclaimer: National Imaging Associates, Inc. (NIA) authorization policies do not constitute medical advice and are not intended to govern or otherwise influence the practice of medicine. These policies are not meant to supplant your normal procedures, evaluation, diagnosis, treatment and/or care plans for your patients. Your professional judgement must be exercised and followed in all respects with regard to the treatment and care of your patients. These policies apply to all Evolent Health LLC subsidiaries including, but not limited to, National Imaging Associates (“NIA”). The policies constitute only the reimbursement and coverage guidelines of NIA. Coverage for services varies for individual members in accordance with the terms and conditions of applicable Certificates of Coverage, Summary Plan Descriptions, or contracts with governing regulatory agencies. NIA reserves the right to review and update the guidelines at its sole discretion. Notice of such changes, if necessary, shall be provided in accordance with the terms and conditions of provider agreements and any applicable laws or regulations.

GENERAL INFORMATION

~~It is an expectation that all patients receive care/services from a licensed clinician. All appropriate supporting documentation, including recent pertinent office visit notes, laboratory data, and results of any special testing must be provided. If applicable: All prior relevant imaging results and the reason that alternative imaging cannot be performed must be included in the documentation submitted.~~

~~**Disclaimer:** Magellan Healthcare service authorization policies do not constitute medical advice and are not intended to govern or otherwise influence the practice of medicine. These policies are not meant to supplant your normal procedures, evaluation, diagnosis, treatment and/or care plans for your patients. Your professional judgement must be exercised and followed in all respects with regard to the treatment and care of your patients. These policies apply to all Magellan Healthcare subsidiaries including, but not limited to, National Imaging Associates (“Magellan”). The policies constitute only the reimbursement and coverage guidelines of Magellan. Coverage for services varies for individual members in accordance with the terms and conditions of applicable Certificates of Coverage, Summary Plan Descriptions, or contracts with governing regulatory agencies. Magellan reserves the right to review and update the guidelines at its sole discretion. Notice of such changes, if necessary, shall be provided in accordance with the terms and conditions of provider agreements and any applicable laws or regulations.~~